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DIRECTORS' REPORT 

Your directors present their report on Carpentaria Exploration Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012.

DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the Directors and Company Secretary of Carpentaria Exploration Limited (Carpentaria) in 
office at the date of this report or at any time during the financial year are:

Name Position Period of directorship

Stuart Nicholas Sheard Executive Chairman Appointed March 2007

Robert William Hair Non-Executive Director Appointed August 2007

Bin Cai Non-Executive Director Appointed May 2011

Dr Neil Williams Non-Executive Director Appointed 1 January 2012

Paul Cholakos Non-Executive Director Appointed 2 April 2012

Michael Peter Chester Non-Executive Director Appointed January 2008, Resigned 8 August 2011

Stanley Alan Macdonald Non-Executive Director Appointed April 2007, Resigned 3 February 2012

Nick Sheard
Executive Chairman

Nick has over 36 years of experience in the industry – most recently Vice President-Exploration for Inco Limited, 
formerly the world's second largest producer of nickel. Prior to that, he was the Global Exploration Manager for MIM 
Holdings Limited, after being initially employed by MIM as Chief Geophysicist. 

Nick helped develop the novel MIMDAS electrical survey system currently being used commercially as a deep seeking 
quality EM and IP system. He is a member of Australian Society of Exploration Geophysicist’s (ASEG) and Australian 
Institute of Geoscientists (AIG) and is a Registered Professional Geoscientist – Mineral Exploration and Geophysics.

Nick is also a Non-Executive Director of Mirabela Nickel Ltd (MBN).

Bob Hair
Non-Executive Director

Bob is by background a lawyer with over 23 years of experience in the resources sector. He was previously an in-house 
lawyer, director of subsidiary companies and Commercial Manager and General Manager in the MIM group in Australia, 
Asia, Europe, North America, South America, and GM Commercial for the ASX-listed Highlands Pacific Limited.  

He is currently Managing Director of the ASX, JSE and AIM-listed Ferrum Crescent Limited (ASX,JSE,AIM:FCR).  He is 
the Chairman of the Carpentaria Audit Committee and a member of the Carpentaria Remuneration Committee. 

Bin Cai
Non-Executive Director

Appointed a Non-Executive Director in May 2011, Bin is Managing Director of Conglin International Investment Group 
Pty Ltd, a major shareholder of Carpentaria Exploration. With 17 years of experience in resources investment, Bin and 
the Conglin Group have an outstanding record of successful strategic investments in emerging Australian resources 
companies.

Conglin Group has longstanding partnerships with major steel producers in China, having developed a successful 
coking coal and iron ore trading business in the Asian economic powerhouse.
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Dr Neil Williams
Non-Executive Director (Appointed 1 January 2012)

Recently retired as Chief Executive Officer of the Australian government’s geoscience agency, Geoscience Australia, 
Dr Williams has had a distinguished career spanning all aspects of mineral exploration, both in Australia and 
internationally, including serving as Chief Geologist for MIM. Dr Williams has won numerous Australian and 
international awards in his field. He has also had a distinguished academic career, currently serving as an Honorary 
Professorial Fellow at the University of Wollongong, as well as a number of other industry and management bodies 
including the Queensland Exploration Council.

He is also a Committee Member of the Carpentaria Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Paul Cholakos
Non-Executive Director (Appointed 2 April 2012)

Paul has 25 years of resources industry experience, successfully managing complex development projects for leading 
oil and gas and diversified mining companies. He holds Master of Business Administration and Bachelor of Engineering 
degrees. Paul currently serves as Executive General Manager, Project Development of major Australian oil and gas 
company Oil Search Limited (ASX:OSH).

He is also Chairman of the Carpentaria Remuneration Committee and a Committee Member of the Audit Committee.

Mike Chester
Non-Executive Director (resigned 8 August 2011)

Mike is currently a director of Axiom Advisory Pty Ltd, an independent boutique corporate advisory firm specialising in 
capital raisings, corporate advisory, IPOs, investor relations and seed capital transactions for small to medium sized 
companies in the industrial and natural resources sectors. 

He is also an investment manager with the Lowell Resources Fund and has extensive past experience in investment 
banking and corporate finance at County NatWest/Salomon Smith Barney and as a mining analyst. 

He is currently a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Black Fire Minerals Ltd (ASX:BFE) and Guildford Coal Ltd. 
(ASX:GUF).

Stan Macdonald
Non-Executive Director (resigned 3 February 2012)

Stan has been associated with the mining and exploration industry for more than 25 years. 

He is a Non-Executive Director of U3O8 Limited (UTO), Zenith Minerals Limited (ZNC) and Gascoyne Resources 
limited (GCY).

Interests in the shares and options of the Company

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Carpentaria Exploration Limited 
are shown in the table below:

Director
Ordinary 
Shares

Non-Recourse 
Employee 

Shares Options

Nick Sheard 400,000 1,500,000 2,000,000

Bob Hair 30,000 1,500,000 -

Bin Cai 10,479,000
1

- -

Neil Williams - - -

Paul Cholakos - - -

1 Held by Australian Conglin International Investment Group Pty Ltd of which Mr Bin Cai is managing director.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The names and details of the Company’s key personnel during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows.  

Doug Brewster  
Exploration Manager

Doug is a career minerals exploration geologist with over 25 years Australian and international multi-commodity 
experience; he is an eastern Australia specialist and graduate of the University of Sydney.

Doug worked initially for CRAE (now Rio Tinto) and then in a senior role at Delta Gold (now Barrick) where he assisted 
rebuilding their eastern Australia exploration effort in the late 1990s. He subsequently operated as a successful mineral 
exploration consultant providing services to a number of major and junior mining companies, including Troy Resources, 
Inco (now Vale) and Toro Energy.

He is experienced in gold, base-metal massive sulfide, porphyry copper, iron-oxide copper-gold, iron ore, coal, uranium, 
diamond, clay and mineral sand exploration. Doug is a member of the Geological Society of Australia (GSA), Society of 
Economic Geologists (SEG), Society of Mining, Metallurgy and Exploration (SME) and the Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists (AIG).

Quentin Hill
Principal Geologist – New Business

Quentin is a geologist with over 15 years’ experience in exploration and development in Australia.  He has wide ranging 
commodity experience including gold, iron ore, coal and base metals.  Quentin was Carpentaria’s Senior Geologist 
when the company listed and integral in the discovery of the 1.4Bt Hawsons Iron Project where he also managed the 
successful resource drilling.  

Prior to his 4 years with Carpentaria Quentin held technical positions with major miners, including seven years with 
Delta Gold, and more recently with Vale’s coal division.  He also held a senior role in the Queensland Government 
where he implemented several exploration funding initiatives. 

He is a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and the Society of Economic Geologists.

Chris Powell
Company Secretary

Chris has over 35 years of experience across a number of industries in similar roles. He has a wealth of administration 
and financial knowledge gathered through employment in senior management roles in New Zealand and Australia. 
Chris holds a Diploma of Management and is a member of the Australian Institute of Management (FAIM).

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Structure

Carpentaria is a company limited by shares and incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its shares are publicly traded 
on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). Carpentaria has prepared a consolidated financial report encompassing the 
entities that it controlled or had significant influence over during the financial year:

Carpentaria had the following investments in other companies during the financial year:

 Willyama Prospecting Pty Ltd

 FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd
1

1 
On 14 September 2011, Carpentaria sold its remaining 20% share in FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd to Guildford Coal Limited.
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NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity during the course of the financial year was mineral exploration.

Following listing on ASX on 17 November 2007, the Consolidated Entity has continued exploration activity on its
projects in Queensland and New South Wales.

There was no significant change in the nature of the activity of the Consolidated Entity during the year.

CURRENCY

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and amounts are rounded to the nearest dollar.

OPERATING RESULTS

For the year ended 30 June 2012, the profit for the Consolidated Entity after providing for income tax was $197,017
(2011: loss of $3,407,685).

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Capital structure

At 30 June 2012 the Company had 105,191,301 (including 8,700,000 non-recourse employee shares) shares and 
7,300,000 options on issue.

Treasury policy

The Board controls the funds which are handled on a day to day basis by the Company Secretary.

Liquidity and funding

Cash includes cash on hand and at call and term deposits with banks readily convertible to cash and is used in the 
cash management function on a day to day basis.

Dividends

No dividends were paid during the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: nil) and no dividend is recommended for 
the current year.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

There was no matter or circumstance during the financial year that has significantly affected the state of affairs of the 
Group.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Exploration 

During FY 2011/2012 Carpentaria progressed the Hawsons Iron Project with detailed metallurgical work and definition 
of transport options.  Carpentaria’s land holding over the Braemar Iron formation was also increased with the farm-in 
agreement of the Braemar JV.   In addition drilling progressed the Broken Hill Tin Tungsten project and two highly 
prospective gold projects were acquired at no cost.

Hawsons Iron Project
Carpentaria announced in November 2011, an update to the Prefeasibility study based on a mining option study that 
increased the value of the project through a revised mining method. The result, based on a large-scale magnetite mine 
producing up to 20 million tonnes per annum (mtpa) of high grade iron concentrate (69.9% Fe), returned a net present 
value after tax of $3.2 billion, and internal rate of return of 23% and a potential mine life of at least 20 years.

Carpentaria began a similar revision of its processing flow and has designed a new flow sheet that has the potential to 
improve the project economics further.

A memorandum of understanding was signed with Flinders Ports to determine a long term handling, storage and 
loading solution at Port Pirie and it is likely that Flinders Ports will be able to export up to 30Mtpa utilizing trans-
shipment after a low cost port upgrade.

Carpentaria’s Joint Venture partner BMG was placed into liquidation on 3
rd

May 2012.  BMG (in liquidation) elected not 
to continue the Joint Venture and there interest is frozen at 40%.

The project includes an Inferred Resource of 1.4 billion tonnes at a Davis Tube Recovery (DTR) of 15.5%, as 
announced in December 2010, that  underpinned the PFS outcomes with potential for further significant tonnage 
identified as part of a 6 -11 billion tonne exploration target

1
. 

Broken Hill Tin, Tungsten Project
A 21 hole, 2,320m reverse circulation (RC) drilling program was completed at the Yanco Glen Tungsten prospect.  The 
drilling was designed to confirm and extend the existing resource.  While not all results have been returned it is likely 
the existing resource will be confirmed, and a new zone of mineralization was identified 1.5km to the south of the 
resource.  

The Kantappa (granted) and Corona Licenses (offered) were added to the Project this year consolidating the project 
and securing all the known tin mineral occurrences in the Broken Hill area.

Barellan
The Barellan licence was granted this year and initial reconnaissance was very encouraging.  This work confirmed the 
presence mineralized rocks that contain high gold grades with a maximum rock chip value of 5.6 g/t gold.  The results 
were from an area, where historical work generated a surface trench rock traverse result of 60m at 1.5g/t gold.  
Observations confirm the mineralization is extensive throughout the trench and drilling will be carried next year.

Braemar Joint Venture
In January 2012 Carpentaria signed a JV with Maosen Australia Pty Ltd giving it the opportunity to earn up to 100% of 
EL3998, located along the Braemar Iron Formation, contiguous to its South Dam JV.  Carpentaria has completed a 
ground magnetic survey with positive results and must complete over 500m of drilling within 12 months to continue in 
the JV.

South Dam JV
Joint venture partner BMG (in Liquidation) has until January 2013 to meet expenditure commitments or the license will 
revert 100% to Carpentaria.

Tooloom 
Tooloom is a new application located in northern NSW, 60km north east of Tenterfield.  The application is located within 
the southern New England Fold Belt, covers seventy five mineral occurrences and is prospective for intrusion related 
gold and gold-silver-base metal mineralization.

Koonenberry Nickel Project
During the year Carpentaria completed a 1,322m reverse circulation (RC) drilling program targeting sulfide or residual 
nickel mineralization in three main prospect areas identified from historical weathered bedrock drilling and surface 
geochemistry.  The drilling program intersected low level nickel sulfides.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Temora Gold Project
This project covers three license’s and was subject to surface reconnaissance this year with no significant results to 
date.  Ongoing delays granting access to drill on crown land via agreement with the NSW Department of Lands 
frustrated Carpentaria’s plans to drill its most prospective area, the Mother Shipton Prospect.  Carpentaria will continue 
to explore avenues to obtain access to this prospect.

McDougalls/Torrowangee Iron Project
The Torrowangee licence was added to the project area this year and one, 39m, RC drill hole has been completed.  
Results are awaited.  However the rocks intersected belong to the much older and harder Paleo-Proterozoic Willyama 
Block and not the younger and softer Neo-Proterozoic rocks that were targeted.

Mt Agate JV
At the Mt Agate project near Cloncurry in Queensland, Carpentaria’s JV partner ActivEX Ltd has undertaken Sub-Audio 
Magnetic surveys, surface geochemical surveys and a 7 hole, 1,231m RC drilling program.  Results from the drilling are 
awaited.

Glen Isla
Activity was limited to surface reconnaissance and desk top reviews at Glen Isla this year.

1 The term "Target" should not be misunderstood or misconstrued as an estimate of Mineral Resources and Reserves as defined by the JORC Code 
(2004), and therefore the terms have not been used in this context. It is uncertain if further exploration or feasibility study will result in the determination of 
a Mineral Resource or Mining Reserve

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Carpentaria is actively seeking a new partner for the Hawsons Iron Project.

During FY 2012/2013 Carpentaria is actively looking for new advanced projects that could become profitable mining 
projects in the near future. 

Competent Person Statement: The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr Nick Sheard, who 
is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and is a Registered Professional Geoscientist -Mineral Exploration and Geophysics. Mr Sheard is a 
full time employee of Carpentaria Exploration Limited and Mr Sheard has sufficient expertise which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of 
deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Sheard consents to the inclusion in the report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulations in relation to its exploration activities. The directors 
are not aware of any significant breaches during the period covered by this report.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company’s directors and of the Audit and the Remuneration 
Committees held during the year ended 30 June 2012 and the number of meetings attended by each director.

Directors’ Meetings Audit Remuneration

Attended
Eligible to 

Attend
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend

Attended
Eligible to 

Attend

Nick Sheard 4 4 - - - -

Bob Hair 4 4 1 1 1 1

Bin Cai 3 4 - - - -

Neil Williams 2 2 - - - -

Paul Cholakos 1 1 - - - -

Mike Chester 1 1 - - - -

Stan Macdonald 2 2 - - 1 1
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INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS OR AUDITOR

Each of the Directors and the Secretary of the Company has entered into a Deed with the Company whereby the 
Company has provided certain contractual rights of access to books and records of the Company and certain 
indemnification to those Directors and Secretary.

The Company has insured all of the Directors of Carpentaria Exploration Limited. The contract of insurance prohibits 
the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities covered and amount of the premium paid. The Corporations Act does not 
require disclosure of the information in these circumstances.

The Company has not indemnified its auditor.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purposes of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all 
or any part of those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS

At balance date there were a total of 7,300,000 shares under options:

Number of Options Exercise Price Vesting Date Expiry Date

600,000 $0.114 20 July 2009 31 July 2012

100,000 $0.114 1 October 2009 31 July 2012

2,000,000 $0.150 26 November 2009 26 November 2012

600,000 $0.250 23 February 2010 16 February 2013

1,300,000 $0.850 1 March 2011 2 March 2013

2,700,000 $0.290 16 December 2011 15 December 2014

Details of options issued, exercised and expired during the financial year are set out below:

Movements 

Expiry Date Exercise 
Price

1 July 
2011

Issued Exercised Expired 30 June 
2012

31 July 2012 $0.114 700,000 - - - 700,000

26 November 2012 $0.150 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000

16 February 2013 $0.250 600,000 - - - 600,000

27 May 2012 $0.413 1,850,000 - - (1,850,000) -

2 March 2013 $0.850 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000

15 December 2014 $0.290 - 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000

6,450,000 2,700,000 - (1,850,000) 7,300,000

No shares of Carpentaria Exploration Limited were issued during the year on exercise of options granted. No amounts 
remain unpaid on these shares.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the directors and key management personnel of 
Carpentaria Exploration Limited (the Company).

Remuneration Policy 

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its directors and executives. To prosper, the Company 
must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives.

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation 
arrangements for the directors and the executive team. The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of 
the nature and amount of emoluments of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market 
conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board 
and executive team. Such officers are given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in a variety of forms 
including cash, equity and fringe benefits. It is intended that the manner of payments chosen will be optimal for the 
recipient without creating undue cost for the Company. Further details on the remuneration of directors and executives 
are set out in this Remuneration Report.

The Company aims to reward the executive directors and key management personnel with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the Company. The Board’s policy is to align 
director and executive objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration 
component and offering long-term incentives.

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive director 
and key management personnel remuneration is separate and distinct except that non-executive directors, as well as 
executives, participate in incentives involving the issue to them of securities in the Company.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to attract and 
retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.

The Company’s specific policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of board members of the 
Company is as follows:

In accordance with the Constitution, the existing Shareholders of the Company have determined in general meeting the 
maximum non-executive director remuneration to be $220,000 per annum.

The Directors have resolved that each non-executive director is entitled to receive fees of $40,000 per annum (plus 
superannuation) and the Chairman of Directors is entitled to receive $60,000 per annum (plus superannuation).  
Payments of fees will be in addition to any payments to directors in any employment capacity.  A Director will not be 
entitled to receive Directors’ fees if he or she is employed by the Company in a full-time executive capacity.

A Director may also be paid fees or other amounts as the Directors determine if a Director performs special duties or 
otherwise performs services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director. A Director may also be reimbursed 
for out of pocket expenses incurred as a result of their directorship or any special duties.

The remuneration of non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2012 is detailed in Table 1 of this 
Remuneration Report.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

Executive Chairman and Key Management Personnel Remuneration

The Company aims to reward the executive directors and key management personnel with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the Company and so as to:

 reward executives for Company and individual performance against targets set by reference to appropriate 
benchmarks;

 align the interests of executives with those of shareholders;
 link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and
 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards.

The remuneration of the Executive Chairman and key management personnel for the period ended 30 June 2012 is 
detailed in Tables 1 and 2 and details of options issued are set out in Table 3.

Employment Contracts

Agreement with Executive Chairman 

On 17 August 2007, the Company and Mr Nick Sheard entered into an agreement containing the terms and conditions 
under which he will provide his services as chief executive officer of the Company.  The agreement came into effect 
upon the Company’s listing on the Australian Securities Exchange, which occurred on 14 November 2007.  

The agreement:

 Currently extended to 30 September 2012;
 involves the payment to Mr Sheard of an annual salary of $230,000 plus 9 % superannuation (increasing by 

reference to the consumer price index each year) and reimbursement of all reasonable business expenses;
 has provision for three months' notice for termination. The Company may terminate this employment agreement by 

providing 12 months written notice or providing payment in lieu of the notice period (being $230,000, based on the 
fixed component of Mr Sheard's remuneration); and

 otherwise contains standard terms relating to confidentiality, conflicts of interest and representations and warranties.

Agreement with Company Secretary 

On 1 June 2007, the Company and Mr. Chris Powell entered into an agreement containing the terms and conditions 
under which the services of Company Secretary are provided to the Company.  The agreement came into effect upon 
the Company’s listing on the Australian Securities Exchange, which occurred on 14 November 2007.  

The agreement:

 Currently extended to 30 September 2012;
 involves the payment to Mr. Powell of an annual salary of $151,750 plus 9 % superannuation payments (increasing 

by reference to the consumer price index each year) and reimbursement of all reasonable business expenses;
 has provision for two months' notice for termination; (being $25,291, based on the fixed component of Mr Powell's 

remuneration) and
 otherwise contains standard terms relating to leave, confidentiality, conflicts of interest and representations and 

warranties.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

Agreement with Exploration Manager 

On 9 August 2007, the Company and Mr Doug Brewster entered into an agreement containing the terms and conditions 
under which the services of Exploration Manager are provided to the Company.  The agreement came into effect upon 
the Company’s listing on the Australian Securities Exchange, which occurred on 14 November 2007.  

The agreement:

 Currently extended to 30 September 2012;

 involves the payment to Mr Brewster of an annual salary of $212,125 plus 9% superannuation (increasing by 

reference to the consumer price index each year) and reimbursement of all reasonable business expenses;

 has provision for three months' notice for termination. The Company may terminate this employment agreement by 

providing one month's written notice and providing payment in lieu of the notice period (being $53,031, three 

months' salary based on the fixed component of Mr Brewster's remuneration); and

 Otherwise contains standard terms relating to confidentiality, conflicts of interest and representations and 
warranties.

Agreement with Principal Geologist New Business 

On 7 January 2008, the Company and Mr Quentin Hill entered into an agreement containing the terms and conditions 
under which the services of Principal Geologist New Business are provided to the Company.  

The agreement:

 Currently extended to 30 September 2012;
 involves the payment to Mr Hill of an annual salary of $195,000 plus 9% superannuation payments (increasing by 

reference to the consumer price index each year) and reimbursement of all reasonable business expenses;
 has provision for one months’ notice for termination. The Company may terminate this employment agreement by 

providing one month’s written notice and providing payment in lieu of the notice period (being $16,250 one months’ 
salary based on the fixed component of Mr Hill’s remuneration); and

 Otherwise contains standard terms relating to confidentiality, conflicts of interest and representations and 
warranties.

Details of Directors and Key Management Personnel

Directors

Name Position Detail

Stuart Nicholas Sheard Executive Chairman Appointed March 2007

Robert William Hair Non-Executive Director Appointed August 2007

Bin Cai Non-Executive Director Appointed May 2011

Dr Neil Williams Non-Executive Director Appointed 1 January 2012

Paul Cholakos Non-Executive Director Appointed 2 April 2012

Michael Peter Chester Non-Executive Director Appointed January 2008, Resigned 8 August 2011

Stanley Alan Macdonald Non-Executive Director Appointed April 2007, Resigned 3 February 2012

Key Management Personnel

Name Position Detail

Doug Brewster Exploration Manager Commenced 14 November 2007

Quentin Hill
Principal Geologist New Business/ 

Project Development Manager

Classified as key management from 1 July 2011
following promotion to Project Development 
Manager

Chris Powell Company Secretary Commenced 14 November 2007

Key management personnel are those directly accountable and responsible for the operational management and 
strategic direction of the company and the consolidated entity.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

Table 1:  Director Remuneration

2012

Short Term Post-Employment
Share-based 
Payments (5)

Salary &
Fees

Cash
Bonus

Non-
cash

benefits
Superan
nuation

Retirement
benefits

Options/
NRE shares Total

Performance 
Related %

% 
consisting 
of equity

Directors

Nick Sheard 230,000 - - 18,000 - - 248,000 - -

Robert Hair 40,000 - - 3,600 - - 43,600 - -

Bin Cai 40,000 - - 3,600 - - 43,600 - -

Neil Williams(1) 20,000 - - 1,800 - - 21,800 - -

Paul Cholakos(2) 10,000 - - 900 - - 10,900 - -

Mike Chester(3) 6,667 - - 600 - - 7,267 - -

Stan Macdonald(4) 23,333 - - 2,100 - - 25,433 - -

370,000 - - 30,600 - - 400,600

(1) Neil Williams was appointed on 1 January 2012

(2) Paul Cholakos was appointed on 2 April 2012

(3) Mike Chester resigned on 8 August 2011

(4) Stan Macdonald resigned on 3 February 2012

(5) The value of equity instruments granted in the year is the fair value of the options and employee share plan calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model.  The value of instruments granted and treated as an expense is the proportionate cost incurred in the current year in accordance with AASB2 Share Based Payment.  

2011

Short Term Post-Employment
Share-based 
Payments (2)

Salary &
Fees

Cash
Bonus

Non-
cash

benefits
Superan
nuation

Retirement
benefits

Options/
NRE shares Total

Performance 
Related %

% 
consisting 
of equity

Directors

Nick Sheard 250,000 30,000 - 25,200 - 174,933 480,133 42.68% 36.43%

Stan Macdonald 40,000 20,000 - 5,400 - 174,933 240,333 81.11% 72.79%

Robert Hair 40,000 20,000 - 5,400 - 174,933 240,333 81.11% 72.79%

Bin Cai(1) 5,000 - - 450 - - 5,450 - -

Mike Chester 40,000 20,000 - 5,400 - 174,933 240,333 81.11% 72.79%

375,000 90,000 - 41,850 - 699,732 1,206,582

(1) Bin Cai was appointed on 15 May 2011

(2) The value of equity instruments granted in the year is the fair value of the options and employee share plan calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model.  The value of instruments granted and treated as an expense is the proportionate cost incurred in the current year in accordance with AASB2 Share Based Payment.  

Table 2:  Remuneration of key management personnel

2012

Short Term Post-Employment
Share-based 
Payments (1)

Salary &
Fees

Cash
Bonus

Non-
cash

benefits
Superan
nuation

Retirement
benefits

Options/
NRE shares Total

Performance 
Related %

% 
consisting 
of equity

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 212,125 - - 19,091 - 21,480 252,696 8.50% 8.50%

Quentin Hill 195,000 - - 17,550 - 21,480 234,030 9.18% 9.18%

Chris Powell 151,750 - - 13,658 - 21,480 186,888 11.49% 11.49%

558,875 - - 50,299 - 64,440 673,614

(1) The value of equity instruments granted in the year is the fair value of the options and employee share plan calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model.  The value of instruments granted is treated as an expense is the proportionate cost incurred in the current year in accordance with AASB2 Share Based Payments.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

2011

Short Term Post-Employment
Share-based 
Payments (1)

Salary &
Fees

Cash
Bonus

Non-
cash

benefits
Superan
nuation

Retirement
benefits

Options/
NRE shares Total

Performance 
Related %

% 
consisting 
of equity

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 212,125 20,000 - 20,891 - 224,511 477,527 51.20% 47.02%

Chris Powell 151,750 20,000 - 15,458 - 224,511 411,719 59.39% 54.53%

363,875 40,000 - 36,349 - 449,022 889,246

(1) The value of equity instruments granted in the year is the fair value of the options and employee share plan calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model.  The value of instruments granted is treated as an expense is the proportionate cost incurred in the current year in accordance with AASB2 Share Based Payment.  

Table 3: Equity Instruments issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2012

Options

All options are issued by Carpentaria Exploration Limited for nil consideration. All options vest on issue and therefore 
hold no vesting conditions. The number and terms of the options issued are as follows:

Grant date
No. of 

Options

Option fair 
value at

grant date
$

Exercise 
price per 

option
$

Total 
value of 
options

$
Expiry 

date

Vesting and 
First 

exercise 
date

% of 
options
vested

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 16/12/2011 300,000 0.0716 0.290 21,480 15/12/2014 16/12/2011 100%

Quentin Hill 16/12/2011 300,000 0.0716 0.290 21,480 15/12/2014 16/12/2011 100%

Chris Powell 16/12/2011 300,000 0.0716 0.290 21,480 15/12/2014 16/12/2011 100%

The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using a Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model.  The total value of the options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to 
remuneration over the vesting period.  The model takes into account the following factors:

Inputs into pricing model

Grant date 16 December 2011

Vesting date 16 December 2011

Exercise price $0.290

Share price at grant date $0.20

Life of the options 3 years

Underlying share price volatility 82%

Expected dividends Nil

Risk free interest rate 4.25%
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

Table 4: Equity instruments (including options and NRE shares) granted as part of remuneration 

2012

Value of equity 
instruments

granted during 
the year

$

Value of equity 
instruments

exercised during 
the year

$

Value of equity 
instruments

lapsed during the 
year

$

Total value of equity 
instruments granted, 
exercised and lapsed 

during the year
$

Directors

Nick Sheard - - - -

Robert Hair - - - -

Bin Cai - - - -

Neil Williams - - - -

Paul Cholakos - - - -

Mike Chester - - 174,933 
1

174,933

Stan Macdonald - - 174,933 
1

174,933

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 21,480 - 45,172 66,652

Quentin Hill 21,480 - 45,172 66,652

Chris Powell 21,480 - 45,172 66,652
1 In accordance with the CAP share plan, former directors Mike Chester and Stan McDonald’s NRE shares became due and payable within 7 days of 
them resigning from the board.  The former directors elected to not repay the loan and consequently their 3,000,000 NRE shares were transferred, in 
trust, to the Company for sale and recorded as Treasury shares

Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options

No shares were issued on the exercise of compensation options in the 2012 financial year (2011: 650,000).

Relationship between remuneration and Company performance

The factors that are considered to affect shareholder return since the Consolidated Entity’s listing on the ASX are 
summarised below:

Measures
2012

$
2011

$
2010

$
2009

$
2008

$

Share price at end of financial year 0.35 0.31 0.34 0.08 0.09

Market capitalisation at end of financial year ($M) 36.81 32.47 24.70 5.40 5.85

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 197,017 (3,407,685) 1,565,849 (1,477,436) (309,845)

Cash spend on exploration programs 3,768,081 1,398,629 1,827,615 1,370,053 1,219,675

Director and Key Management Personnel remuneration 1,074,214 2,095,828 897,281 641,914 938,405

Given that the remuneration is commercially reasonable, the link between remuneration, Company performance and 
shareholder wealth generation is tenuous, particularly in the exploration and development stage of a minerals company. 
Share prices are subject to the influence of international metal prices and market sentiment towards the sector and 
increases or decreases may occur independently of executive performance or remuneration. 

The Company may issue options to provide an incentive for key management personnel which, it is believed, is in line 
with industry standards and practice and is also believed to align the interests of key management personnel with those 
of the Company’s shareholders.

Equity instruments issued as part of remuneration

Equity instruments are issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. The equity instruments are not 
issued solely on performance criteria, but are also issued to all directors and executives of Carpentaria Exploration 
Limited to increase executive retention and goal congruence between executives, directors and shareholders.

End of Remuneration Report 
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the 
auditor's expertise and experience with the company and/or the group are important. Details of the amounts paid or 
payable to the auditor (PKF East Coast Practice) for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out 
below.

The board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the audit committee, is 
satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by 
the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
for the following reasons:

 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality 
and objectivity of the auditor

 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditor of the parent 
entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms:

Taxation services 35,450
Other assurance services 7,500

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The Auditor’s Independence Declaration forms part of the Directors’ Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of the 
Company support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance. The Company’s corporate governance 
statement is contained in a separate section of this report.

EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Fair Value of Guildford Coal Limited Investment (“GUF”)

At 30 June 2012 Carpentaria Exploration Limited’s shareholding in GUF of 2,184,551 shares equated to an investment 
of $1,190,580 at a closing share price of $0.545 per share on that date. Also refer to Note 9 of the financial statements.

Subsequent to year end the share price of GUF has decreased and at the date of this report is trading at approximately 
$0.300. As a result Carpentaria Exploration Limited’s investment has decreased by $535,215 to a total value of 
approximately $655,365.

There have been no other events since 30 June 2012 that impact upon the financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors

S N Sheard
Executive Chairman
Dated this 26th day of July 2012
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Lead auditor’s independence declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To: the directors of Carpentaria Exploration Limited and the entities it controlled during the year

I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 there 
have been:

 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit, and

 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

PKF

Albert Loots
Partner

Dated at Brisbane this 26
th

day of July 2012

Tel: 61 7 3226 3555  |  Fax: 61 7 3226 3500 | www.pkf.com.au

PKF  | ABN 83 236 985 726

Level 6, 10 Eagle Street  |  Brisbane  |  Queensland 4000  |  Australia

GPO Box 1078  |  Brisbane  |  Queensland 4001

The PKF East Coast Practice is a member of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent member firms. The PKF East Coast Practice is also a member of the 
PKF Australia Limited national network of legally independent firms each trading as PKF. PKF East Coast Practice has offices in NSW, Victoria and Brisbane. PKF East Coast 
Practice does not accept responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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ADDITIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION

DISTRIBUTION OF NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES AS AT 24 JULY 2012

Ordinary shares fully paid
Number of Securities Held No. of holders

1 to 1,000 188
1,001 to 5,000 589
5,001 to 10,000 417
10,001 to 100,000 891
100,001 and over 112

2,197

Number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares 242

TWENTY LARGEST HOLDERS OF EACH QUOTED SECURITY

Security: CAP - ORDINARY SHARES

Rank Name BALANCE % HELD

1 AUSTRALIA CONGLIN INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT GROUP PTY LTD 10,479,000 10.72%

2 SILVERGATE CAPITAL PTY LTD 8,568,220 8.76%

3 SILVERGATE CAPITAL PTY LTD 7,775,084 7.95%

4 MR CONGLIN YUE 3,100,000 3.17%

5 SYDNEY EQUITIES PTY LTD 2,250,000 2.30%

6 JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA  LIMITED 1,812,292 1.85%

7 BEST EXPAND INVESTMENTS       LIMITED 1,550,735 1.59%

8 CARPENTARIA EXPLORATION LTD 1,300,000 1.33%

9 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES         (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 1,157,833 1.18%

10 MR TECK MING LOO & MRS SHINKO LOO 910,000 0.93%

11 MR JOHN HUEY 900,000 0.92%

12 MR WILLIAM MCCORMACK & MRS SUSAN  MCCORMACK 761,588 0.78%

13 FORSYTH BARR CUSTODIANS LTD 708,619 0.72%

14 JANHARP INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 705,000 0.72%

15 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 598,169 0.61%

16 MR MICHAEL JOHN WILLIAMS & MRS KATRINA ELFREDA WILLIAMS 570,486 0.58%

17 MR CONGLIN YUE 567,482 0.58%

18 BATIHA PTY LIMITED 550,000 0.56%

19 VCM INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 525,419 0.54%

20 MR KENNETH SHEARD 500,000 0.51%

46,289,927 47.34%

VOTING RIGHTS

All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Substantial shareholders as shown in substantial shareholder notices received by the Company at 24 July 2012 are:

Name of Shareholder Ordinary Shares

AUSTRALIA CONGLIN INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT GROUP PTY LTD 10,479,000

SILVERGATE CAPITAL PTY LTD 8,568,220

SILVERGATE CAPITAL PTY LTD 7,775,084
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INTERESTS IN MINING TENEMENTS

Exploration Permits for Minerals. All tenements are held by Carpentaria Exploration Limited as the principal and sole 
holder with 100% unencumbered share, apart from those marked accordingly in the table below:

Licence No. Name
Original 

Grant Date
Expiry Date

Sub 
Blocks

Area 
Km

2 %

EL 6246
3

Glen Isla 24/05/2004 24/05/2012 12 33.9 100%

EL 6901 Combaning 8/10/2007 8/10/2013 154 435.8 100%

EL 6936
1 & 3

Euriowie 7/11/2007 7/11/2011 31 90.9 100%

EL 6979
2 & 6

Redan 11/12/2007 11/12/2013 62 179.8 100%

EL 7208
6

Burta 22/09/2008 22/09/2012 100 289.7 100%

EL 7256 Kallara 2/12/2008 2/12/2012 4 11.3 100%

EL 7375 Dirnaseer 30/07/2009 30/07/2013 82 231.8 100%

EL 7475
3

Apollyon 16/03/2010 16/03/2012 11 32.1 100%

EL 7476
3

Hillston 16/03/2010 16/03/2012 38 110.4 100%

EL 7504
3 & 6

Little Peak 8/04/2010 8/04/2012 14 40.6 100%

EL 7574 Gundong 5/07/2010 5/07/2012 40 102.4 100%

EL 7655 McDougalls C 6/12/2010 6/12/2012 100 294.7 100%

EL 7656 McDougalls A 6/12/2010 6/12/2012 100 293.9 100%

EL 7657 McDougalls B 6/12/2010 6/12/2012 100 294.4 100%

EL 7680 Ilabo 11/01/2011 11/01/2013 37 104.4 100%

EL 7735 Koonenberry 1 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 297.5 100%

EL 7736 Koonenberry 2 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 296.7 100%

EL 7737 Koonenberry 3 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 296.1 100%

EL 7738 Koonenberry 4 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 295.5 100%

EL 7739 Mt Shannon 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 298.0 100%

EL 7740 Wertago 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 294.8 100%

EL 7741 McDougalls D 16/05/2011 16/05/2013 100 294.3 100%

EL 7823 Torrowangee 24/08/2011 24/08/2013 102 298.6 100%

EL 7829 Yanco Glen 2/09/2011 2/09/2013 50 146.2 100%

EL 7841 Hawsons Knob 20/09/2011 20/09/2013 176 510.1 100%

EL 7896 Barellan 6/02/2012 6/02/2014 100 283.4 100%

EL 7921 Kantappa 19/04/2012 19/04/2014 86 252.5 100%

EL 3998
4

Braemar 10/12/2007 10/12/2012 76 218.0 0%

EL 4395
5

South Dam 6/12/2009 9/12/2012 30 86.0 100%

EPM 14955
3 & 5

Mount Agate 29/06/2006 28/06/2011 60 192.0 100%

Licence total 30
          
2,265 

          
6,606 

1 100 % Willyama Prospecting Pty Ltd (wholly owned subsidiary of Carpentaria)
2 1.5% NSR royalty to Perilya Broken Hill Pty Ltd.
3 Under Renewal Process
4 0%; farm-in Maosen Australia Pty Ltd
5 JV farm-out
6 JV to earn potential interest of 20%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides and monitors the 
business and affairs of Carpentaria Exploration Limited (CAP) on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected 
and to whom they are accountable.

In fulfilling its obligations and responsibilities to its various stakeholders, the Board of Directors (“Board”) of CAP is a 
strong advocate of corporate governance. This statement outlines the principal corporate governance procedures of 
CAP. The Board supports a system of corporate governance to ensure that the management of CAP is conducted to 
maximize shareholder wealth in a proper and ethical manner. This statement has been placed on the Company’s website 
www.capex.net.au. The references in this statement to “the Recommendations” are references to the “Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations”, Second Edition, published by ASX, and a reference to an “ASX 
Principle” is a reference to a principle contained in the Recommendations.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the Recommendations, which are as 
follows:

Principle 1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Principle 2. Structure the board to add value
Principle 3. Promote ethical and responsible decision making
Principle 4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Principle 5. Make timely and balanced disclosure
Principle 6. Respect the rights of shareholders
Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk
Principle 8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Given the size of the Company and the number of Board members the Company is not in a position to be fully compliant 
with the Recommendations. The Company’s current policies do not meet the set out recommended practices in the 
following areas:

ASX Principle 2.3 requires that the roles of a chairman and chief executive officer (or the like) should not be exercised by 
the same person. Mr Nick Sheard is the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. 

While the Board recognizes the importance of the need for the division of responsibilities between the chairman and the 
managing director, it considers the existing structure provides unified leadership important to a small company with early 
stage exploration projects. Mr Sheard’s dual role makes him responsible (along with the whole Board) for determining 
strategic direction of the Company, as well as having primary responsibility for day to day management. At present this 
dual role assists the Company to run in a cost effective and efficient manner. The Board intends to re-consider the duality 
of Mr Sheard’s role and the merits of appointing a new managing director as the Company evolves and increases its 
operations.

ASX Principle 2.4 requires listed entities to establish a nomination committee. The Company does not have a separately 
established nomination committee. Given the current size of the Board, the Board considers that this function is 
efficiently achieved with full Board support, in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Board’s charter (available on 
the Company’s website).

ASX Principle 2.6 Information: The Board will undertake an annual review of the performance of the Board and the 
individual directors and examine the appropriate mix of skills to ensure maximum effectiveness and contribution to the 
results of the company business.

The evaluation for this financial period was conducted at the Board meeting held 6 July 2012. The process of the review 
included:

 discussions as to the expertise and experience of the current Board members
 having regard to the present and future needs of the Company whether the number of Directors is adequate 

It was concluded unanimously that the present Board would be maintained to cover the Company’s current activities as it 
met all the principles required as set out in the Board Charter under “Roles of the Board and Management” (Board 
Charter available on Company’s website.)

The Audit and Remuneration committees performance was also discussed and were re-constituted as set out in the 
Directors’ Report.
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ASX Principles 3.1 and 3.2 require the Company to make available a summary of the Company’s Code of Conduct and 
its Share Trading Policy and suggest that these should be posted on the Company’s website. These policies have been 
posted on the Company’s website. In relation to the Share Trading Policy there are internal review processes requiring 
advice to be made when there is trading in the Company’s securities by directors and senior executives. This is coupled 
with an “alert” offered by the registry in the event of any trading.

Structure of the Board

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of the 
annual report is included in the Directors’ Report.  Directors are considered to be independent when they are 
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered and independent judgment. The 
Company also takes into account the criteria for independence set out in the Recommendations.

In the context of director independence, “materiality” is considered from both the company and individual director 
perspective. The determination of materiality requires consideration of both quantitative and qualitative elements. An 
item is presumed to be quantitatively material on the following basis - balance sheet items are material if they have a 
value of more than 5% of pro-forma net assets and profit and loss items are material if they will have an impact on the 
current year operating result of 10% or more. Qualitative factors considered include whether a relationship is 
strategically important, the competitive landscape, the nature of the relationship and the contractual or other 
arrangements governing it and other factors which point to the actual ability of the director in question to shape the 
direction of the Company’s loyalty.

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following directors of the 
Company are considered to be independent:

Name Position
Mr Bob Hair Non-Executive Director
Dr Neil Williams Non-Executive Director
Mr Paul Cholakos Non-Executive Director

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following directors of the 
Company are not considered to be independent:

 Mr Nick Sheard, Executive Chairman. Holds position of Chief Executive Officer (CEO).

 Mr Bin Cai, Non-Executive Director.  Officer of a substantial shareholder.

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to enable directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

The term in office held by each director in office at the date of this report is as follows:

Name Term in Office
Mr Nick Sheard 63 Months
Mr Bob Hair 46 Months
Mr Bin Cai 16 Months
Dr Neil Williams 6 Months
Mr Paul Cholakos 3 Months

It is the whole Board’s responsibility in respect of appointing and removing the Company Secretary. 

All directors have unlimited access to all company information to discharge their responsibilities, if required.  

Policies for reporting unethical practices and legal obligations are contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Charter available on the website.

Functions of the Board and Senior Management are set out in the Board Charter under “Roles of the Board and
Management” (Board Charter available on Company’s website.)

Performance

The performance of the Board and executives is reviewed against both measurable and qualitative indicators. The 2012 
review will be undertaken at the next Board Meeting to be held in July 2012. The performance criteria against which 
directors and executives are assessed are aligned with the financial and non-financial objectives of the Company. 
Directors whose performance is consistently unsatisfactory may be sanctioned.

Details of the criteria used in these evaluations are included in the Remuneration Report.  
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a Remuneration committee to ensure that the Board continues to operate within the 
established guidelines. The committee during the year comprised three directors namely Paul Cholakos (Chairman), Bob 
Hair and Neil Williams.  

Role

The role of the committee is to review and make recommendations as to remuneration packages for directors and senior 
executives including employee incentive and equity-based plans.

It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and 
executive team by remunerating directors and executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant employment 
market conditions. To assist in achieving this objective, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of 
executive directors’ and executives’ emoluments to the Company’s financial and operational performance. Each 
executive’s remuneration is reviewed annually based upon individual and Company performance. The expected 
outcomes of the remuneration structure are the retention and motivation of executives, the attraction of quality 
management to the company and performance incentives which allow executives to share the rewards of the success of 
the Company.

For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary components for each of the key 
management personnel during the year and for all directors, refer to the Remuneration Report in the Director’s Report.

In relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments, discretion is exercised by the Board, having 
regard to the overall performance of the Company and the performance of the individual during the period.

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to non-executive directors. The 
Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors themselves and the 
chief executive officer and the executive team. 

A copy of the ‘Remuneration Policy ’is available on the Company’s website.  

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates under a charter (available on the Company’s website) approved by the Board. It is the 
Board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the Company that is specific to 
the material business risks that the Company faces. This includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness 
and efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, and the reliability of financial information as well as non-financial considerations such as the benchmarking of 
operational key performance indicators. The Board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment and 
maintenance of a framework of internal control, risk management and ethical standards for the management of the 
Company to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee meets as required to ensure that it can undertake its role 
effectively. Minutes of the audit committee meetings are recorded and provided to the board in the next full board 
meeting.

The committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for 
inclusion in the financial reports. The members of the audit committee during the year were Bob Hair (Chairman), Neil 
Williams and Paul Cholakos.

Audit Process

As part of the Company’s commitment to safeguarding integrity in financial reporting, Carpentaria Exploration’s accounts 
are subject to annual audit by an independent, professional auditor, who also reviews the half-yearly accounts. The 
Auditor attends and is available to answer questions at, the Company’s annual general meetings.

Auditor Independence 

The Company has implemented procedures to monitor the independence and competence of the Company’s external 
auditors.

Details of the amounts paid for both work and non-audit services are set out in each annual report.
The Board requires that adequate handovers occur in the year prior to rotation of an audit partner to ensure an efficient 
and effective audit under the new partner.

For additional details of directors’ attendance at Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings and to review the 
qualifications of the members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, please refer to the Directors’ Report.
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Continuous Disclosure

The Company understands and respects that timely disclosure of price sensitive information is central to the efficient 
operation of the Australian Securities Exchange, prevention of selective or inadvertent disclosure, conduct of investor 
and analysts briefings, media communications, commenting on expected earnings, communications black-out periods 
and review of briefings and communications. The policy is reviewed periodically and updated as required. The Company 
Secretary has responsibility for overseeing and coordinating disclosure of information to the Australian Stock Exchange. 

The Company Secretary also liaises with the Executive Chairman in relation to continuous disclosure matters. The 
Executive Chairman is responsible for overseeing and coordinating disclosure of information to analysts, brokers and 
shareholders. The Company’s continuous disclosure policy may be viewed on the
Company’s website.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept informed of all major developments affecting CAP. Information is 
communicated to shareholders through the distribution of annual reports; and presentation to shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting, which they are encouraged to attend. The Company’s Communications Policy has been placed on the 
website. In addition, all reports, including quarterly reports and releases made by CAP throughout the year with respect 
to its activities are distributed widely via the Australian Stock Exchange and are posted on the Company’s website.

Diversity

Carpentaria, as the context permits is committed to workplace diversity. Carpentaria recognises the benefits arising from 
employee and board diversity, including a broader pool of high quality employees, improving employee retention, 
accessing different perspectives and ideas and benefiting from all available talent.

Carpentaria values diversity in all aspects of its business and is committed to creating an environment where the 
contribution of all its personnel is received fairly and equitably.  The Company’s Diversity Policy has been placed on the 
website.

Risk Management

CAP has developed a framework for a risk management policy and internal compliance and control system which covers 
organisational, financial and operational aspects of the Company's affairs. This framework has been designed to 
specifically address the material business risks faced by the Company. The Chairman and Managing Director is 
responsible for ensuring maintenance of, and compliance with appropriate systems. 

Oversight of the risk management system

The Board monitors and receives advice on areas of operational and financial risk, and considers strategies for 
appropriate risk management arrangements.  Operational, financial reporting and regulatory compliance risks are 
continually assessed, monitored and managed at management level, and any specific areas of significant risk are dealt 
with at Board level.  Whilst the Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, it is 
also cognisant that no cost-effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities.

To manage the Company’s risk profile, the Board has established an internal control framework comprising:
 for financial reporting accuracy and compliance with the financial reporting regulatory framework:

- there is a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the Directors. Monthly financial 
results are reported against budget and revised forecasts for the remainder of the year are prepared when 
necessary;

- cash flow statements are also prepared and included within a package of information reported to The Executive 
Chairman weekly and Directors on a monthly basis;

- half-yearly and annual statutory reports which are reviewed and audited respectively by the Company’s external 
auditors and reported to the ASX;

 risk exposures relating to interest rate fluctuations are managed in accordance with the Boards Policy;
- in that the interest rate risk is exposed to the Australian market and given the current policy of Government 

backed guarantees on funds held at Australian Banks the risk is acceptable and in accordance with the Policy. 
The Risk Management Committee comprising all Board members which meets regularly to determine, with the 
assistance of external treasury advisers where appropriate define appropriate interest rate hedging strategies to 
manage these risks and ensure that such activities are conducted in compliance with the Company’s Policy;

 all business transactions of a material nature are properly authorised and executed; and
 the recruitment and retention of personnel with due experience, commitment and integrity.

The financial reporting risk management framework and associated internal controls have been assessed by
management and found to be operating effectively and efficiently. The operational risk management procedures are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure they appropriately support corporate objectives.
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Financial 

The Company’s financial situation is not complex. Weekly cash flow reports and monthly management accounts are 
prepared and circulated to Directors for review and consideration. All major project expenditure must be approved by the 
Board. Carpentaria Exploration maintains appropriate insurance cover. This includes cover in respect of: 

 workers’ compensation; 
 public liability; and
 property insurance. 

The Company may obtain cover for directors’ and officers’ liability, to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 
The Company implements appropriate data backup of its financial and other electronic information, this includes an off-
site back-up of this information. Physical records are held within the Company’s office and are contained, where 
appropriate, in a fire-proof safe. 

Risk Factors 

The risk factors associated with the Company and its business were set out in its prospectus dated September 2007 and 
lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission in that month. These risk factors are still considered 
by Carpentaria Exploration’s Board to be relevant to the Company and are appended to this policy.

Other risks faced by the Company and disclosed in the Financial Report are:

 Credit risk;
 Market risk – Interest rate risk; and
 Liquidity risk.

A copy of the CAP’s Risk Management Policy can be obtained from the Company’s website. 

Prior to signing the Group’s annual financial statements, CAP’s Managing Director and Company Secretary report in 
writing to the Board that:

 the statement given in accordance with recommendation 7.2 and 7.3 is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and

 the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control framework is operating efficiently and 
effectively in relation to financial risks.

Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary certification

In accordance with S295A of the Corporations Act, the Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary have provided a 
written statement to the board that:

 The assurance provided on the Company’s financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management and 
internal compliance and control which implements the financial policies adopted by the board

 The Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial risks.

For further information on corporate governance policies adopted by the Company, refer to our website: 
www.capex.net.au or contact the Company Secretary.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2012 2011
$ $

Revenue 2 445,951 1,111,708

Other income 2 2,943,098 614,233

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 (1,309,420) -

Employment benefit expenses (1,138,885) (3,012,090)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (96,043) (45,178)

Finance costs (19,748) (13,754)

Impairment of exploration expenditure (4,746) (669,192)

Impairment of receivables (132,662) (275,000)

Rental and other lease expenses (151,593) (120,154)

Administration and project generation expenses (1,063,935) (933,252)

Share of net loss from equity accounted associates - (65,006)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (527,983) (3,407,685)

Research and development income tax refund 3 725,000 -

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense 197,017 (3,407,685)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 197,017 (3,407,685)

Cents Cents

Earnings per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 5 0.21 (3.65)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 5 0.21 (3.65)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2012

Note 2012 2011

$ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7 6,338,447 9,197,766

Trade and other receivables 8 208,664 2,111,243

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 1,190,580 -

Other current assets 10 340,645 231,558

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8,078,336 11,540,567

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Plant and equipment 11 190,869 230,817

Exploration expenditure 13 8,248,488 4,087,228

Intangible assets 12 62,643 93,434

Equity accounted investments 14 - 9,994

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 8,502,000 4,421,473

TOTAL ASSETS 16,580,336 15,962,040

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 15 378,263 722,384

Interest bearing liabilities 16 91,633 103,598

Provisions 17 115,688 131,260

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 585,584 957,242

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest bearing liabilities 16 99,070 190,703

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 99,070 190,703

TOTAL LIABILITIES 684,654 1,147,945

NET ASSETS 15,895,682 14,814,095

EQUITY

Share capital 18 17,629,473 16,938,223

Reserves 19 2,017,477 2,033,078

Accumulated losses (3,751,268) (4,157,206)

TOTAL EQUITY 15,895,682 14,814,095

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Consolidated Entity Share Capital Reserves Accumulated 
Losses

Total

$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2010 10,408,009 234,092 (749,521) 9,892,580

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners

Issue of share capital 6,512,492 - - 6,512,492

Share issue costs (36,210) - - (36,210)

Share-based payment expense - 1,852,918 - 1,852,918

Transfers 53,932 (53,932) - -

Comprehensive income

Loss after income tax - - (3,407,685) (3,407,685)

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2011 16,938,223 2,033,078 (4,157,206) 14,814,095

Balance at 1 July 2011 16,938,223 2,033,078 (4,157,206) 14,814,095

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners

Issue of share capital 691,250 - - 691,250

Share issue costs - - - -

Share-based payment expense - 193,320 - 193,320

Transfers - (208,921) 208,921 -

Comprehensive income

Profit after income tax - - 197,017 197,017

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2012 17,629,473 2,017,477 (3,751,268) 15,895,682

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2012 2011

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (2,969,785) (2,521,329)

Interest received 548,651 487,841

Interest paid (19,748) (13,754)

Research and development income tax refund received 725,000 -

Net cash used in operating activities 20 (1,715,882) (2,047,242)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant & equipment (25,304) (19,267)

Proceeds from sale of interest in exploration tenement - 2,000,000

Proceeds from sale of equity accounted associate 502,877 -

Proceeds received for exploration and evaluation 959,172 -

Payments for exploration and evaluation (3,768,081) (1,398,629)

Net cash (used in)/ provided by investing activities (2,331,336) 582,104

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares 565,000 6,342,692

Share issue costs - (36,211)

Funds received from/(advanced to) equity accounted associate 726,496 (726,496)

Proceeds/(repayments) from borrowings (7,937) 7,937

Repayment of finance leases (95,660) (31,193)

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,187,899 5,556,729

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,859,319) 4,091,591

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 9,197,766 5,106,175

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 6,338,447 9,197,766

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Introduction

This financial report covers the Consolidated Entity of Carpentaria Exploration Limited (the “Company”) and its controlled 
entities (together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”).  Carpentaria Exploration Limited is a listed public company, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity in the preparation of 
the financial report.  The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. 

Operations and principal activities
The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity is mineral exploration.

Currency
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, rounded to the nearest dollar, which is the functional currency of 
the Consolidated Entity.

Authorisation of financial report
The financial report was authorised for issue on 26 July 2012.

Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
consolidated entity is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements

Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of the Carpentaria Exploration Limited group also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified, where 
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.

Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. In common 
with many exploration companies, the company raises finance for its exploration and appraisal activities in discrete 
tranches. During the year, on 3 May 2012, Carpentaria’s joint venture partner BMG was placed into liquidation.  BMG (in 
liquidation) elected not to continue the joint venture and its interest is frozen at 40%. 

At the reporting date, the group had a net current asset position of $7,492,752 (2011: $10,583,325). The Directors 
consider that this is sufficient for the consolidated entity to continue its currently planned exploration activities.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. 

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical knowledge and 
best available current information.  Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
historical experiences and the best available current information on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the Consolidated Entity.  These estimates and judgements made assume a reasonable expectation 
of future events but actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision effects only that period or in the period and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  There were no key adjustments during the year which 
required estimates and/or judgements.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Key judgements – exploration & evaluation expenditure
The Consolidated Entity performs regular reviews on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of 
continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.  These reviews are based on detailed surveys and 
analysis of drilling results performed to balance date.
Accounting policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by Carpentaria 
Exploration Limited at the end of the reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which Carpentaria Exploration 
Limited has the ability and right to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the entity’s 
activities.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of those entities is 
included only for the period of the year that they were controlled.  A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 28 to
the financial statements.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the 
consolidated group have been eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Non-controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent, are reported 
separately within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive 
income.  The non-controlling interests in the net assets comprise their interests at the date of the original business 
combination and their share of changes in equity since that date.

Business combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination involving entities 
or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from the date that control is 
attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed 
is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting from a 
contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent consideration 
classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 
consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change 
to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date. All transaction 
costs incurred in relation to the business combination are expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. The 
acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

(b) Investments in Associates

Associates are companies in which the Consolidated Entity has significant influence through holding, directly or 
indirectly, 20% or more of the voting power of the Group. Investments in associates are accounted for in the financial 
statements by applying the equity method of accounting, whereby the investment is initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Consolidated Entity’s share of net assets of the associate 
company. In addition, the Consolidated Entity’s share of the profit or loss of the associate company is included in the 
Consolidated Entity’s profit or loss.

The carrying amount of the investment includes goodwill relating to the associate. Any discount on acquisition whereby 
the Consolidated Entity’s share of the net fair value of the associate exceeds the cost of investment is recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Consolidated Entity and the associate are eliminated to the 
extent of the Consolidated Entity’s interest in the associate.

When the Consolidated Entity’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the 
Consolidated Entity discontinues recognising its share of further losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. When the associate subsequently makes profits, the 
Consolidated Entity will resume recognising its share of those profits once its share of the profits equals the share of the 
losses not recognised.

Details of the Consolidated Entity’s investments in associates are provided in Note 14.
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(c) Income Tax

The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax 
expense (income).

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current tax liabilities (assets) 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year 
as well unused tax losses.

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the tax relates to 
items that are recognised outside profit or loss.

Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability,
where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur.  Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset 
and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be 
recovered or settled.

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit/(loss) for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or 
disallowed items.  It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are substantially enacted by the balance 
date.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet method in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  No deferred income tax will be
recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, (except for a business combination) where there is no effect 
on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

(d) Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment.  In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated 
recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and 
impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a 
revalued asset.  A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to 
Note 1(h) for details of impairment).

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows 
that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been 
discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Consolidated Entity includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing 
costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Plant and Equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future benefits associated with the item will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the 
Consolidated Entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of asset is:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate
Plant and equipment 20%
Computers and Office Equipment 20 - 33%
Motor Vehicles 12.5%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses 
are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the 
revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(e) Exploration Evaluation and Development Expenditure

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of each identifiable area of 
interest. These costs are only capitalised to the extent that they are expected to be recovered through the successful 
development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable 
assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision 
to abandon the area is made. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the 
area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to capitalise costs 
in relation to that area of interest.

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the project from when exploration commences and are included in 
the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and 
building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with local laws and regulations and 
clauses of the permits. Such costs have been determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and 
technology on an undiscounted basis.

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site 
restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and 
future legislation. Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that the restoration will be completed within 
one year of abandoning the site.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Leases

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the 
legal ownership that is transferred to entities in the Consolidated Entity, are classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases are capitalised by recognising an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value 
of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. 

Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

(g) Financial Instruments

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to 
the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Consolidated Entity commits itself to either the 
purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted). 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified 
“at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Finance instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, or 
cost.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition less 
principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation of the difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to 
determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and is 
equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of 
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future 
net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or 
expense item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for the purpose of short-
term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting 
mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a Consolidated Entity of financial assets is managed by key 
management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. 
Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Loans and receivables are included in current assets, 
where they are expected to mature within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (continued)

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments, and it is the Consolidated Entity’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets where they are expected to mature within 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. All other investments are classified as current assets.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be classified into other 
categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by management. They comprise 
investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.

They are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in such fair value (ie gains or losses) recognised in other 
comprehensive income (except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses). When the financial asset 
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss pertaining to that asset previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified into profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets where they are expected to be sold within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. All other financial assets are classified as current assets.

(v) Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Impairment 
At the end of each reporting period, the Consolidated Entity assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of 
the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to 
profit or loss at this point.

Financial guarantees
Where material, financial guarantees issued that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due are recognised as a financial liability at 
fair value on initial recognition. 

The guarantee is subsequently measured at the higher of the best estimate of the obligation and the amount initially 
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation in accordance with AASB 118: Revenue.  Where the entity 
gives guarantees in exchange for a fee, revenue is recognised under AASB 118.

The fair value of financial guarantee contracts has been assessed using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow 
approach. The probability has been based on:

– the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting in a year period;
– the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered due  to the guaranteed party defaulting; and
– the maximum loss exposed if the guaranteed party were to default.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred 
to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits 
associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expired. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Consolidated Entity assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset’s carrying 
amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g. in accordance with the 
revaluation model in AASB 116). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in 
accordance with that other Standard.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Consolidated Entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(i) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Consolidated Entity’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within 1 year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. Employee benefits payable later than 1 year 
have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In 
determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wages increases and the probability that the employee may 
satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows.

Equity-settled compensation
Share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortised over the 
vesting periods.  Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received 
or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be 
reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received.  The corresponding amount is 
recorded to the option reserve.  The fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  The 
volatility input in the pricing model is determined by the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over a similar 
period to the exercise period.  The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of 
each reporting period such that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments 
granted is based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.

(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are reported within 
short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(k) Revenue and Other Income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account any trade 
discounts and volume rebates allowed. When the inflow of consideration is deferred, it is treated as the provision of 
financing and is discounted at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market for similar arrangements.  The 
difference between the amount initially recognised and the amount ultimately received is interest revenue.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

(l) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial 
position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts 
from customers or payments to suppliers.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Share Capital

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Consolidated Entity.  Any 
transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share 
proceeds received.

The Company has issued shares to employees and directors under the Company’s employee share plan.  The shares 
have been issued in return for an interest free loan from the Consolidated Entity whereby the Consolidated Entity only 
has recourse to the shares. This issue of shares has been valued as an option grant in accordance with AASB2 “Share 
Based Payments. The shares are disclosed in the financial statements as non-recourse employee shares (NRE Shares).

(n) Earnings per share

The Consolidated Entity presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period, excluding NRE shares. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(o) Comparative figures

When required by accounting standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 
for the current financial year.  Comparative figures have also been changed where classifications of income and 
expenditure items have been altered from the prior year as a result of a review by directors.  The new classifications 
have been made to reflect a more accurate view of the Consolidated Entity’s operations.

(p) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

The Consolidated Entity adopted the following new Accounting Standards and Interpretations during the period:

 AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project;

 AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (December 2009);
 AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets; 

and
 AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures and AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project.

There were no material impacts on the financial statements or performance of the Consolidated Entity.
(q) New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2012
reporting periods. The Consolidated Entity has decided against early adoption of these standards.  The Consolidated 
Entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below:

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 and 
2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9

This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013 and completes phase I of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 (being the international equivalent to AASB 
139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’). This standard introduces new classification and 
measurement models for financial assets, using a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at 
amortised cost or fair value. To be classified and measured at amortised cost, assets must satisfy the business model 
test for managing the financial assets and have certain contractual cash flow characteristics. All other financial 
instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value. This standard allows an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive 
income, with dividends as a return on these investments being recognised in profit or loss. In addition, those equity 
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income would no longer have to apply any impairment 
requirements nor would there be any ‘recycling’ of gains or losses through profit or loss on disposal. The accounting for 
financial liabilities continues to be classified and measured in accordance with AASB 139, with one exception, being that 
the portion of a change of fair value relating to the entity’s own credit risk is to be presented in other comprehensive 
income unless it would create an accounting mismatch. The Consolidated Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2013 
but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the Consolidated Entity.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

AASB 10: 'Consolidated Financial Statements'

This standard replaces the part of IAS 27: 'Consolidated and Separated Financial Statements' and is applicable for the 
annual period beginning 1 January 2013. This new standard introduces a new definition of control that determines which 
entities are consolidated. This new definition of control may potentially lead to the consolidation of entities that were not
previously included in the Consolidated Entity resulting in more assets and liabilities on the books. The Consolidated 
Entity is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

AASB 11: 'Joints Arrangements'

This standard replaces IAS 31: 'Interest in Joint Ventures' and is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. This new standard introduces new rules which classify joint arrangements as either a joint operation or 
joint venture. Under the new standard, proportionate consolidation is not allowed and all joint ventures must be equity 
accounted. All joint arrangements held by the Consolidated Entity will need to be reassessed to determine whether the 
joint operation or joint venture classification is appropriate, and therefore the potential impacts of a change on the 
presentation of the Financial Statements. The Consolidated Entity is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

AASB 12: ' Disclosure of interest in other Entities'

This standard is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. This standard clarifies the 
disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities including joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The Consolidated Entity is assessing the impact of this standard.

AASB 13: 'Fair Value Measurement'

This standard establishes a single course of guidance for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. The 
Consolidated Entity is currently assessing the impact of this standard.

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirement

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013, with early adoption not 
permitted. They amend AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ by removing the disclosure requirements for individual key 
management personnel (‘KMP’). The adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2013 will remove the duplication of 
information relating to individual KMP in the notes to the financial statements and the directors report. As the aggregate 
disclosures are still required by AASB 124 and during the transitional period the requirements may be included in the 
Corporations Act or other legislation, it is expected that the amendments will not have a material impact on the 
consolidated entity.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards

The amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments 
make numerous consequential changes to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, following the 
issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 12 and revised AASB 127 and AASB 128. The consolidated entity has yet to 
determine to potential effect of this standard.

(r) Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the parent entity, Carpentaria Exploration Limited, disclosed in note 28 has been prepared 
on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below.

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of 
Carpentaria Exploration Limited. Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss, 
rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.
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2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 2 REVENUE & OTHER INCOME

Revenue

Consulting and management fee revenue - 530,608

Bank interest received 445,951 581,100

445,951 1,111,708

Other Income

Gain on sale of interest in exploration tenement - 614,233

Gain on sale of 20% investment in FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd (refer to note 14) 2,943,098 -

2,943,098 614,233

NOTE 3 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) applicable to accounting profit before income tax at the statutory 
income tax rate to income tax expense at the Consolidated Entity’s effective income tax rate for the years ended 30 
June 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Accounting profit /(loss) before income tax (527,983) (3,407,685)

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (158,395) (1,022,306)

Non-deductible expenses 68,587 565,286

Deductible amounts recognised in equity (35,271) (33,098)

Deferred tax assets not bought to account 125,079 490,118

Research and development income tax refund 725,000 -

Income tax refund/(expense) 725,000 -

Unrecognised temporary differences and tax losses

Net deferred tax assets not brought to account 489,630 364,551

The deductible temporary differences and tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the Consolidated Entity can utilise these benefits.

NOTE 4 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration paid to PKF East Coast Practice

- auditing and reviewing the financial report 42,542 41,250

Non audit services:

- Taxation services 35,450 12,260

- Other assurance services 7,500 7,500

85,492 61,010
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2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 5 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings used to calculate basic and dilutive EPS 197,017 (3,407,685)

2012 2011

# #

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 94,723,951 93,348,625

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share - options 1,397,542 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares 
used as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share

96,121,493 93,348,625

Weighted average number of anti-dilutive options (and NRE shares)
outstanding excluded from dilutive EPS

12,177,260 8,603,388

NOTE 6 DIVIDENDS & FRANKING CREDITS

There were no dividends paid or recommended during the financial year. There are no franking credits available to the 
shareholders of the Company.

2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 7 CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand and at bank 192,603 3,280,013

Cash on deposit 6,145,844 5,917,753

6,338,447 9,197,766

NOTE 8 TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other receivables 160,315 1,508,695

Interest receivables 48,349 151,052

Receivable from equity accounted associate - 726,496

Provision for impairment - other receivables - (275,000)

208,664 2,111,243

NOTE 9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Shares in Guilford Coal Limited 1,190,580 -

The Consolidated Entity received 2,184,551 fully paid ordinary securities in Guildford Coal Limited (GUF) with a market 
value at 14 September 2011 of $2.5 million as part consideration for the sale of its 20% share in FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd.  The 
market value of GUF shares declined from $1.144 per share at the sale date to $0.545 per share at 30 June 2012, 
resulting in an unrealised loss on the GUF shares of $1,309,420 for the period.
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2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 10 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 18,820 9,733

Bonds and deposits 321,825 221,825

340,645 231,558

NOTE 11 PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment

At cost 112,570 100,481

Accumulated depreciation (65,260) (52,920)

47,310 47,561

Plant and equipment under lease

At cost 200,560 200,560

Accumulated depreciation (57,001) (17,304)

143,559 183,256

Total plant and equipment 190,869 230,817

Movements in carrying amounts

Plant and 
equipment

Plant and 
equipment  

under lease Total

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2010 55,930 - 55,930

Additions 19,267 - 19,267

Additions – finance lease - 200,560 200,560

Depreciation expense (27,636) (17,304) (44,940)

Balance at 30 June 2011 47,561 183,256 230,817

Balance at 1 July 2011 47,561 183,256 230,817

Additions 25,304 - 25,304

Depreciation expense (25,555) (39,697) (65,252)

Balance at 30 June 2012 47,310 143,559 190,869
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2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software – at cost 7,759 7,759

Software – at cost (under lease) 87,465 87,465

Accumulated amortisation (32,581) (1,790)

62,643 93,434

Movements

Opening balance 93,434 6,207

Additions - -

Additions – finance lease - 87,465

Amortisation (30,791) (238)

Closing balance 62,643 93,434

NOTE 13 EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE

Exploration expenditure capitalised

Opening balance 4,087,228 4,573,758

Net current year expenditure 4,212,795 1,568,429

Disposals (46,789) (1,385,767)

Impairment of exploration expenditure (4,746) (669,192)

8,248,488 4,087,228

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful development and commercial 
exploitation of areas of interest, and the sale of minerals or the sale of the respective areas of interest.

NOTE 14 EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

Investment in associates - 9,994

Movements

Opening balance 9,994 75,000

Additions 49,785 -

Disposals (59,779) -

Share of loss - (65,006)

Closing balance - 9,994

Sale of FTB (Qld) Pty Ltd

On 14 September 2011, The Consolidated Entity sold its remaining 20% share in FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd to Guildford Coal 
Limited for the following consideration:

 $1.5 million cash
 2,184,551 fully paid ordinary securities in Guildford Coal Limited (GUF) with a market value at 14 September of 

$2.5 million
 $0.50 per tonne royalty on coal production from the Hughenden Coal Project, capped at 10 million tonnes per 

year for 20 years.
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NOTE 14 EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS (continued)

At the date of disposal the Consolidated Entity owed Guildford Coal Limited, joint venture contributions of $270,627 that 
were netted off the $1.5 million payment. The Consolidated Entity also had a receivable from FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd of 
$726,496 that was also settled through the cash payment of $1.5 million. As a result the net cash received on disposal of 
FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd was $502,877.

The disposal had the following effect on the financial statements:

$

Cash consideration received 1,500,000

Market value of GUF shares at sale date 2,500,000

Total consideration received 4,000,000

Less amounts owed by FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd (726,496)

Less carrying value of investment in FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd (59,779)

Less joint venture contributions owed to Guildford Coal Limited (270,627)

Gain on disposal 2,943,098

Summarised Financial Information of FTB (Qld) Pty Ltd

Assets Liabilities Revenue Loss

$ $ $ $

2011 5,520,555 3,647,701 3,101 325,031

2011: There was no expenditure commitments contracted for at balance date payable but not provided for and payable 
by the associate.  There are no known contingent liabilities.

2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 15 TRADE & OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables and accrued expenses 378,263 722,384

NOTE 16 INTEREST BEARING LIABLITIES

Current

Finance leases 91,633 95,661

Insurance financing - 7,937

91,663 103,598

Non-Current

Finance leases 99,070 190,703

The above facilities represent the only finance facilities available to the Consolidated Entity.  There are no unused 
facilities at balance date (2011: Nil).

The finance leases are secured over the individual assets that the lease relates to.
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2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 17 PROVISIONS

Employee benefits 115,688 131,260

NOTE 18 SHARE CAPITAL

Fully paid ordinary shares 17,629,473 16,938,223

Ordinary Shares

2012 2011 2012 2011

$ $ # #

At the beginning of the year 16,938,223 10,408,009 94,341,301 72,641,301

Share placement
1

126,250 169,800 450,000 370,000

Share issue expenses - (36,210) - -

Exercise of options 
2

- 6,342,692 - 21,330,000

Transfer from reserves 
3

- 53,932 - -

Transfers from treasury shares
5

565,000 1,700,000 -

At reporting date 17,629,473 16,938,223 96,491,301 94,341,301

Non-recourse employee shares (NRE)

At the beginning of the year - - 10,400,000 -

Shares issued under non-recourse loan plan 
4

- - - 10,400,000

NRE shares transferred to treasury shares 
5 

(3,000,000)

At reporting date - - 7,400,000 10,400,000

Treasury shares

At the beginning of the year - - - -

Transfers from NRE shares 
5

- - 3,000,000 -

Transfers to ordinary shares
5

- - (1,700,000) -

At reporting date - - 1,300,000 -

Total Ordinary, NRE and Treasury Shares 17,629,473 16,938,223 105,191,301 104,741,301

1
  2012: 250,000 ordinary fully paid shares issued at $0.225 each in consideration for land access rights.  200,000 ordinary fully paid shares issued at 

$0.350 each in consideration for acquiring an interest in exploration licence on EL 3998.
2011: 370,000 ordinary fully paid shares issued in consideration for land access rights.

2
  2011: 21,330,000 options were exercised during the period for consideration of $6,342,692.  Exercise prices ranged between $0.114 and $0.30 per 

share.
3
  2011: $53,932 was transferred out of the options reserve into share capital.  This transaction had no impact on cashflows or total equity.

4
  2011: 10,400,000 shares were issued as a result of the employee share plan.  The value of this transaction is reflected in reserves.  Refer to Note 18

and 21 for further details.
5 2012: In accordance with the CAP share plan, former directors Mike Chester and Stan McDonald’s NRE shares became due and payable within 7 days 

of them resigning from the board.  The former directors elected to not repay the loan and consequently their 3,000,000 NRE shares were transferred, in 
trust, to the Company for sale and recorded as Treasury shares. At 30 June 2012, the Company had sold 1,700,000 shares at an average of $0.332
per share (transferred to ordinary shares) and continues to hold in trust 1,300,000 Treasury shares.
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NOTE 18 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of 
shares held.  At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

Non-recourse employee (NRE) shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of shares held.  At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a 
poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.  NRE shares will not qualify for participation 
in any dividend reinvestment plan of the Company until the loan amount in respect of those shares has been repaid.

The Company has lien over the NRE shares in respect of which the loan amount is outstanding.  The Company is 
entitled to sell any unpaid NRE shares in accordance with the CAP share plan.

Options

Movements 

Expiry Date Exercise 
Price

1 July 
2011

Issued Exercised Expired 30 June 
2012

31 July 2012 $0.114 700,000 - - - 700,000

26 November 2012 $0.150 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000

16 February 2013 $0.250 600,000 - - - 600,000

27 May 2012 $0.413 1,850,000 - - (1,850,000) -

2 March 2013 $0.850 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000

15 December 2014 $0.290 - 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000

6,450,000 2,700,000 - (1,850,000) 7,300,000

2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 19 RESERVES

Share based payment reserve 2,017,477 2,033,078

Share based payment reserve movements during the year

Opening balance 2,033,078 234,092

Share based payments 193,320 1,852,918

Transfer to share capital - (53,932)

Transfer to accumulated losses (expired options) (208,921) -

Closing balance 2,017,477 2,033,078

Share based payment reserve
The share based payments reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to directors,
employees and contractors as part of their remuneration.
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2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 20 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation of cash flows used in operations with loss after income tax

Profit/(loss) after income tax 197,017 (3,407,685)

Non-cash items in profit/(loss) after income tax

Depreciation and amortisation 96,043 45,178

Share based payments expense 193,320 1,852,918

Impairment of exploration expenditure 4,746 669,192

Impairment of receivables 132,662 275,000

Gain on sale of equity accounted associate (2,943,098) -

Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,309,420 -

Gain on sale of interest in exploration tenement - (614,233)

Share of net loss from equity accounted associate - 65,006

Movements in assets and liabilities

Receivables 84,248 (880,431)

Other assets (109,087) (73,316)

Trade payables and accruals (665,581) (20,504)

Provisions (15,572) 41,633

Cash flow from operations (1,715,882) (2,047,242)

Non-cash transactions

2012: 250,000 ordinary fully paid shares issued at $0.225 each in consideration for land access rights.  

200,000 ordinary fully paid shares issued at $0.350 each in consideration for the renewal of the exploration 
licence on EL 3998.

2,184,551 shares in Guildford Coal Limited (“GUF”) as part consideration for the disposal of its 20% interest in 
FTB (QLD) Pty Ltd. Refer Note 14 for further details.

2011: 370,000 ordinary shares at $0.46 per share were issued in consideration for tenement land access rights.

Vehicles, field equipment, computer equipment and software totaling $288,025 were acquired via finance 
leases. 
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NOTE 21 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Equity based instruments - Options
The establishment of the CAP Employee Option Plan was approved by shareholders at the 2006 annual general 
meeting. The Employee Option Plan is designed to provide long-term incentives for senior managers and above 
(including executive directors) to deliver long-term shareholder returns.

The Company has granted options over ordinary shares to directors, employees and consultants as part of their 
remuneration packages. The options were granted for nil consideration and are not quoted on the ASX. Options granted 
under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.

Information with respect to the number of options granted is as follows:

2012

Tranche Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price
Balance at 
start of year

Granted 
in year

Exercised 
in year

Lapsed 
during year

Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of 

year

8 20 July 2009 31 July 2012 $0.114 600,000 - - - 600,000 600,000

9 1 Oct 2009 31 July 2012 $0.114 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000

10 26 Nov 2009 26 Nov 2012 $0.150 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000

11 16 Feb 2010 16 Feb 2013 $0.250 600,000 - - - 600,000 600,000

12 12 July 2010 27 May 2012 $0.413 1,850,000 - - (1,850,000) - -

13 1 March 2011 2 March 2013 $0.850 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 1,300,000

14 16 Dec 2011 15 Dec 2014 $0.290 - 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000 2,700,000

6,450,000 2,700,000 - - 7,300,000 7,300,000

Weighted average exercise price 0.37 0.29 - 0.413 0.33 0.33

Weighted average share price at date of exercise -

2011

Tranche Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price
Balance at 
start of year

Granted 
in year

Exercised 
in year

Lapsed 
during year

Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of 

year

1 27 Aug 2007 30 Jun 2010 $0.300 500,000 - (500,000) - - -

7 1 July 2008 30 Jun 2011 $0.150 200,000 - - (200,000) - -

8 20 July 2009 31 July 2012 $0.114 750,000 - (150,000) - 600,000 650,000

9 1 Oct 2009 31 July 2012 $0.114 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000

10 26 Nov 2009 26 Nov 2012 $0.150 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000

11 16 Feb 2010 16 Feb 2013 $0.250 600,000 - - - 600,000 600,000

12 12 July 2010 27 May 2012 $0.413 - 1,850,000 - - 1,850,000 1,850,000

13 1 March 2011 2 March 2013 $0.850 - 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 1,300,000

4,150,000 3,150,000 (650,000) (200,000) 6,450,000 6,450,000

Weighted average exercise price 0.18 0.59 0.26 0.15 0.37 0.37

Weighted average share price at date of exercise 0.43

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 1.22 years.  
(2011: 1.32 years).

Fair value of options granted
The assessed fair value at the date of grant of options issued is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model 
that takes into account the exercise price, the underlying share price at the time of issue, the term of the option, the 
underlying share’s expected volatility, expected dividends and the risk free interest rate for the expected life of the 
instrument.
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NOTE 21 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The value of the options was calculated by using the Black-Scholes pricing model applying the inputs shown below:

Tranches issued in 2012 Tranches issued in 2011

Inputs into pricing model 14 12 13

Grant date 16 December 2011 12 July 2010 1 March 2011 

Vesting date 16 December 2011 27 May 2011 1 March 2013

Exercise price $0.290 $0.413 $0.85

Share price at grant date $0.20 $0.44 $0.66

Life of the options 2 years 1.88 years 2 years

Underlying share price volatility 82% 54% 54%

Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil

Risk free interest rate 4.25% 4.42% 4.68%

Equity based instruments – Director and Employee Shares with Non-Recourse Loans

In the prior year, the Company issued 10,400,000 ordinary shares to Directors and employees pursuant to the CAP 
Employee Share Plan. The shares were issued as a result of the Consolidated Entity achieving Corporate KPI1, being a 
discovery and resource outline. This KPI was met on 17 December 2010. The shares issued in March 2011 following 
board approval.

The director shares have an issue price of $0.48, being the VWAP over the 10 days prior to 31 May 2011. The employee 
shares have an issue price of $0.60, being the VWAP over the 10 days prior to 3 March 2011. The shares have been 
issued in return for an interest free loan from the Consolidated Entity whereby the Consolidated Entity only has recourse 
to the shares. This issue of shares has been treated as an option grant in accordance with AASB2 “Share Based 
Payments”. In line with AASB2 “Share Based Payments”, the related expense for the shares is recorded from the date 
that agreement with the employee is met, being the date Corporate KPI 1 was met (in this case the announcement of a 
resource outline on 17 December 2010). 

Information with respect to the number of director and employee shares with non-recourse loans granted is as follows:

2012

Tranche Grant Date Escrow Date
Exercise 

Price

Balance at 
start of 

year
Granted in 

year
Exercised 

in year

Lapsed/
transferred

during year(1)
Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of year

Director 1 31 May 2011 31 May 2012 $0.48 3,000,000 - - (1,500,000) 1,500,000 1,500,000

Director 2 31 May 2011 31 May 2013 $0.48 3,000,000 - - (1,500,000) 1,500,000 1,500,000

Employee 1 1 March 2011 2 March 2013 $0.60 4,400,000 - - - 4,400,000 4,400,000

10,400,000 - - (3,000,000) 7,400,000 7,400,000

Weighted average exercise 0.53 - - 0.48 0.58 0.58

1 In accordance with the CAP share plan, former directors Mike Chester and Stan McDonald’s NRE shares became due and payable within 7 days of 
them resigning from the board.  The former directors elected to not repay the loan and consequently their 3,000,000 NRE shares were transferred, in 
trust, to the Company for sale and recorded as Treasury shares. At 30 June 2012, the Company had sold 1,700,000 shares at an average of $0.332 
per share (transferred to ordinary shares) and continues to hold in trust 1,300,000 Treasury shares.

2011

Tranche Grant Date Escrow Date
Exercise 

Price

Balance at 
start of 

year
Granted in 

year
Exercised 

in year

Lapsed/
transferred
during year

Balance at 
end of year

Exercisable 
at end of year

Director 1 31 May 2011 31 May 2012 $0.48 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000

Director 2 31 May 2011 31 May 2013 $0.48 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000

Employee 1 1 March 2011 2 March 2013 $0.60 - 4,400,000 - - 4,400,000 4,400,000

- 10,400,000 - - 10,400,000 10,400,000

Weighted average exercise price - 0.53 - - 0.53 0.53
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NOTE 21 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The value of the Director and Employee Shares with Non-Recourse Loans was calculated by using the Black-Scholes 
pricing model applying the inputs shown below:

Inputs into pricing model Director 1 Director 2 Employee 1

Grant date 31 May 2011 31 May 2011 1 March 2011

Vesting date 31 May 2012 31 May 2013 1 March 2013

Exercise price $0.48 $0.48 $0.60

Share price at grant date $0.51 $0.51 $0.66

Life of the options 1 year 2 years 2 years

Underlying share price volatility 54% 54% 54%

Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil

Risk free interest rate 4.68% 4.68% 4.68%

Equity based instruments – Ordinary Shares

During the year the Company issued 200,000 ordinary fully paid shares at $0.35 per share ($70,000) consideration for 
acquiring an interest in exploration licence on EL 3998. The fair value of the interest in the tenement was deemed to 
equal the value of the share issues.  The value of the shares was determined by reference to the Company’s trading 
price on the ASX at the date of the transaction.

During the year the Company issued 250,000 ordinary fully paid shares at $0.225 per share ($56,250) in consideration 
for tenement land access.  The fair value of the tenement land access was deemed to equal the value of the share 
issues.  The value of the shares was determined by reference to the Company’s trading price on the ASX at the date of 
the transaction.

During the prior year the Company issued 370,000 ordinary fully paid shares at $0.46 per share ($169,800) in 
consideration for tenement land access.  The fair value of the tenement land access was deemed to equal the value of 
the share issues.  The value of the shares was determined by reference to the Company’s trading price on the ASX at 
the date of the transaction.

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit 
expense were as follows:

2012 2011

$ $

Options issued under employee option plan 193,320 364,095

Shares issued under employee share scheme - 1,488,823

193,320 1,852,918
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NOTE 22 RELATED PARTY and KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel comprise directors and other persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Consolidated Entity.

2012 2011

Summary $ $

Short-term employee benefits 928,875 868,875

Post-employment benefits 80,899 78,199

Share-based payments 64,440 1,148,754

1,074,214 2,095,828

Director/Key Management Personnel shareholdings (number of shares)

2012 Opening 
Balance

Granted as 
remuneration

On Exercise of 
Options

Net Change 
Other

Closing 
Balance

Directors

Nick Sheard 1,900,000 - - - 1,900,000

Bob Hair 1,530,000 - - - 1,530,000

Bin Cai
1

10,479,000 - - - 10,479,000

Neil Williams - - - - -

Paul Cholakos - - - - -

Mike Chester
2

1,586,401 - - (1,586,401) -

Stan Macdonald
2

2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) -

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 1,265,000 - - - 1,265,000

Quentin Hill 410,000 - - - 410,000

Chris Powell 1,060,000 - - (20,000) 1,040,000

Total 20,230,401 - - (3,606,401) 16,624,000

1 Held by Australian Conglin International Investment Group Pty Ltd of which Mr Bin Cai is managing director.
2 Net Change Other represents movement on retirement as director.

2011 Opening 
Balance

Granted as 
remuneration

1
On Exercise of 

Options
Net Change 

Other
Closing 
Balance

Directors

Nick Sheard 300,000 1,500,000 - 100,000 1,900,000

Bob Hair 30,000 1,500,000 - - 1,530,000

Mike Chester 86,401 1,500,000 - - 1,586,401

Stan Macdonald - 1,500,000 500,000 - 2,000,000

Bin Cai
2

- - - 10,479,000 10,479,000

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 400,000 1,000,000 - (135,000) 1,265,000

Chris Powell 31,500 1,000,000 150,000 (121,500) 1,060,000

Total 847,901 8,000,000 650,000 10,322,500 19,820,401

1 During the period, the Company issued 8,000,000 NRE shares to Directors and Key Management Personnel pursuant to the CAP Employee Share 
Plan.  Refer to Note 18 for further details.

2
Held by Australian Conglin International Investment Group Pty Ltd of which Mr Bin Cai is managing director.
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NOTE 22 RELATED PARTY and KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued)

Director/Key Management Personnel option holdings (number of options)

2012 Opening 
Balance

Granted as 
remuneration

Options 
Exercised

Options 
Lapsed/Sold

Closing 
Balance

Directors

Nick Sheard 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000

Bob Hair - - - - -

Bin Cai - - - - -

Neil Williams - - - - -

Paul Cholakos - - - - -

Mike Chester - - - - -

Stan Macdonald - - - - -

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 650,000 300,000 - (400,000) 550,000

Quentin Hill 400,000 300,000 - (400,000) 300,000

Chris Powell 500,000 300,000 - (400,000) 400,000

Total 3,550,000 600,000 (1,200,000) 3,250,000

2011 Opening 
Balance

Granted as 
remuneration

Options 
Exercised

Options 
Lapsed/Sold

Closing 
Balance

Directors

Nick Sheard 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000

Bob Hair - - - - -

Mike Chester - - - - -

Stan Macdonald 500,000 - (500,000) - -

Bin Cai - - - - -

Key Management Personnel

Doug Brewster 450,000 400,000 - (200,000) 650,000

Chris Powell 250,000 400,000 (150,000) - 500,000

Total 3,200,000 800,000 (650,000) (200,000) 3,150,000

Amounts Owed to Key Management Personnel and Other Related Parties

There were no amounts payable to Directors, key management personnel or other related parties at 30 June 2012 (2011: 
nil).

Transactions with Related Parties

There were no other transactions between the Consolidated Entity and its related parties during the year (2011: nil).
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NOTE 23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Consolidated Entity's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks and accounts receivable and 
payable and investments in listed securities.

There have been no substantive changes in the Consolidated Entity's exposure to financial instrument risks, its 
objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods 
unless otherwise stated in this note.

The Board is responsible for managing the Consolidated Entity’s identification and control of financial risks and for 
evaluating treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts

The main risks arising from the Consolidated Entity’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and price risk. The Consolidated Entity uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it 
is exposed. These include monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate risk and assessments of market forecasts for 
interest rate prices. Ageing analyses and monitoring of specific credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk. 
Liquidity risk is monitored through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the other party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge their obligation resulting in the 
Consolidated Entity incurring a financial loss. This usually occurs when debtors fail to settle their obligations owing to the 
Consolidated Entity.

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 
recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in
the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.  There is no collateral held as security at 30 June 2012.

Credit risk is reviewed regularly by the Board.  It arises from exposure to customers as well as through deposits with 
financial institutions.  The Consolidated Entity has the following material credit risk exposure to the followings debtor or 
group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the Consolidated Entity.

2012 2011

$ $

Receivable from equity accounted associate - 726,496

Receivable from joint venture partner - 1,182,724

- 1,909,220

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Non-trade receivables 208,664 2,386,243

Cash and cash equivalents 6,338,447 9,197,766

6,547,111 11,584,009

Ageing of receivables

Not past due 208,664 1,986,243

Past due 0-90 days - -

Past due >90 days - 400,000

Impaired - (275,000)

208,664 2,111,243

Credit risk - Cash and cash equivalents

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired is considered strong.  The counterparty to 
these financial assets are large financial institutions with strong credit ratings.
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NOTE 23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity may encounter difficulties raising funds to meet financial 
obligations as they fall due.

Liquidity risk is reviewed regularly by the Board.  The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast 
cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash resources are maintained.  

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of fixed and floating rate financial liabilities.  Cash flows for financial
liabilities without fixed amount or timing are based on the conditions existing at 30 June 2011.  The amounts disclosed 
represent undiscounted cash flows.

The remaining contractual maturities of the financial liabilities are:

2012 2011

$ $

Less than one year

Trade and other payables 378,263 722,384

Insurance financing - 8,129

Finance leases 111,467 116,143

One to five years

Finance leases 95,206 206,672

584,936 1,053,328

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

 Trade creditors are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms
 Other creditors are unsecured and non-interest bearing
 Due to the short term nature of the current payables the carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

 Insurance financing is unsecured and is subject to an interest rate of 14.4%.

 Finance lease are secured by way of fixed charge over the leased asset. The finance leases are a subject to 

interest rates ranging from of 7.73% to 10.06%.  

(c) Market Risk

Market risk arises from the use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial instruments.  It is the risk that 
the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates (interest rate 
risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk).

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is managed by constant monitoring of interest rates.  The Consolidated Entity's interest rate exposure is 
limited to its variable rate cash and cash equivalents assets.

Interest rates over the 12 month period were analysed and a sensitivity determined to show the effect on profit and equity 
after tax if the interest rates at reporting date had been 100 basis points higher or lower, with all other variables held 
constant. This level of sensitivity was considered reasonable given the current level of both short-term and long-term 
Australian interest rates. The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the 
balance sheet date.
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NOTE 23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

At 30 June 2012, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post 
tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements: Post Tax Profit
Higher/(Lower)

Equity
Higher/(Lower)

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011
$

+1.00% (100 basis points) 1,926 32,800 1,926 32,800

-1.00% (100 basis points) (1,926) (32,800) (1,926) (32,800)

Price risk

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to securities in the current period arose from an investment in one listed company, 
Guilford Coal Ltd.  

The Consolidated Entity actively monitors the underlying investment in the context of its overall strategic and financial 
objectives.  

At 30 June 2012, the Consolidated Entity had the following exposure to price risk:

2012 2011

$ $

Shares in Guilford Coal Limited 1,190,580 -

At 30 June 2012, if the market prices had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, 
post tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements: Post Tax Profit
Higher/(Lower)

Equity
Higher/(Lower)

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011
$

+ 25% 297,645 - 297,645 -

- 25% (297,645) - (297,645) -

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy: 

(i) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)
(ii) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2), and
(iii) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Level 1 Investments: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets

For the year ended 30 June 2012 the value of the listed shares was based on the closing price of Guilford Coal Ltd’s 
securities as quoted on the ASX on 30 June 2012. 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit and loss that relate to financial assets held at fair value through 
profit or loss at the end of the reporting period were $1,309,420 (2011: $0)
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NOTE 23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Capital Risk Management

Management controls the capital of the Consolidated Entity in order to provide capital growth to shareholders and ensure 
the Consolidated Entity can fund its operations and continue as a going concern. The Consolidated Entity’s capital 
includes ordinary share capital. Further detail on the value share capital can be found in Note 18.  There are no 
externally imposed capital requirements. Management effectively manages the Consolidated Entity’s capital by 
assessing the Consolidated Entity’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these 
risks and the market. These responses include the management share issues.

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Consolidated Entity
since the prior year.

(e) Net Fair Values

The net fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying value.  No financial assets or liabilities are 
readily traded on organised markets in standardised form.

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the balance sheet 
and in the notes to the financial statements.

NOTE 24 SEGMENT REPORTING

Reportable Segments

The Company operates in one segment, being the exploration, development, and production of minerals.  All of the 
Company’s areas of operation are currently located in Australia.

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive team in 
order to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance.

2012 2011

$ $

NOTE 25 COMMITMENTS

Operating leases

Minimum lease payments:

Payable within one year 146,827 115,625

Payable within one year and five years 32,327 135,836

Total contracted at balance date 179,154 251,461

Finance leases

Future minimum lease payments:

Payable within one year 111,467 116,143

Payable between one year and five years 95,206 206,672

206,673 322,815

Less future interest payments (15,970) (36,451)

190,703 286,364

Present value of minimum lease payments:

Current (Note 16) 91,633 95,661

Non-Current (Note 16) 99,070 190,703

190,703 286,364

Finance leases relate to exploration equipment, computer equipment and vehicles with a written down value of $201,789.  
Under the lease terms, the Consolidated Entity will acquire the leased assets at the end of the lease.   
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NOTE 25 COMMITMENTS (continued)

Future exploration

The Consolidated Entity has certain obligations to expend minimum amounts on exploration in tenement areas.  These 
obligations may be varied from time to time and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations of the 
Consolidated Entity.

2012 2011

$ $

Exploration obligations to be undertaken:

Payable within one year 1,943,250 1,521,000

Payable between one year and five years 698,722 1,521,000

2,641,972 3,042,000

To keep tenements in good standing, work programs should meet certain minimum expenditure requirements. If the 
minimum expenditure requirements are not met, the Company has the option to negotiate new terms or relinquish the 
tenements or to meet expenditure requirements by joint venture or farm in agreements.

NOTE 26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets at 30 June 2012 that require disclosure in the financial report.

NOTE 27 JOINT VENTURE ARRANGEMENTS

Braemar Joint Venture

During the period, Carpentaria entered into a joint venture arrangement with Maosen Australia Pty Ltd (Maosen) that 
gives Carpentaria the opportunity to earn a 100% interest in the Braemar Iron Formation Project in South Australia (EL 
3998).  The key terms of the arrangement are:

 Carpentaria is required to pay Maosen $25,000 upon execution of the agreement (which was completed);

 On renewal of the tenement, Carpentaria is required to complete a 500m drilling program and issue 200,000 fully 
paid shares to Maosen;

 To earn a 60% interest in the joint venture, Carpentaria must define a 200 million tonne magnetite resource within 
3 years of initial access and pay Maosen $100,000;

 Carpentaria may earn an 80% interest by completing a prefeasibility study and making a further cash payment to 
Maosen of $200,000, at which point Maosen has the right to contribute on a pro-rata basis;

 Should Maosen elect not to contribute to further development, Carpentaria may earn a 100% interest in the 
project for a further $1,000,000 cash payment to Maosen, whereby Maosen would revert to a 1.5% Net Profit 
Royalty.  At the completion of a detailed feasibility study, Maosen could elect to regain a 10% interest.
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NOTE 28 PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

The Parent Entity of the Consolidated Entity is Carpentaria Exploration Limited.

2012 2011

$ $

Parent Entity Financial Information

Current assets 8,038,335 12,301,210

Non-current assets 8,727,407 3,875,742

Total assets 16,765,742 16,176,952

Current liabilities 585,584 957,246

Non-current liabilities 99,070 190,703

Total liabilities 684,654 1,147,949

Net assets 16,081,088 15,029,003

Issued capital 17,629,473 16,938,223

Share based payment reserve 2,017,477 2,033,078

Accumulated losses (3,565,862) (3,942,298)

Total equity 16,081,088 15,029,003

Profit/(loss) after income tax 167,515 (3,203,986)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 167,515 (3,203,986)

Controlled Entities of the Parent Entity

Percentage Owned Parent Entity Investment

2012 2011 2012 2011

% % $ $

Willyama Prospecting Pty Ltd 100% 100% 1 1

Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees of the Parent Entity

The minimum committed expenditure for future periods of the Parent Entity is the same as those for the Consolidated 
Entity.  Refer to Note 25 for details.

The Parent Entity has no contingent assets, contingent liabilities or guarantees at balance date.

NOTE 29 EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Fair Value of Guildford Coal Limited Investment (“GUF”)

At 30 June 2012 Carpentaria Exploration Limited’s shareholding in GUF of 2,184,551 shares equated to an investment of 
$1,190,580 at a closing share price of $0.545 per share on that date. Also refer to Note 9 of the financial statements.

Subsequent to year end the share price of GUF has decreased and at the date of this report is trading at approximately 
$0.300. As a result Carpentaria Exploration Limited’s investment has decreased by $535,215 to a total value of 
approximately $655,365.

There have been no other events since 30 June 2012 that impact upon the financial report.
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

In the directors' opinion:

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial 
position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable; and

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

S N Sheard
Executive Chairman

Brisbane
26 July 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF CARPENTARIA EXPLORATION LIMITED

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Carpentaria Exploration Limited, which comprises the balance 
sheet as at 30 June 2012, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies, other 
explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of Carpentaria Exploration Limited (the company) and the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 
time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Tel: 61 7 3226 3555 |  Fax: 61 7 3226 3500 | www.pkf.com.au
PKF | ABN 83 236 985 726
Level 6, 10 Eagle Street  | Brisbane  | Queensland 4000 |  Australia
GPO Box 1078 |  Brisbane |  Queensland 4001

The PKF East Coast Practice is a member of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent member firms. The PKF East Coast Practice is also a member of the PKF 
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Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Carpentaria Exploration Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in 10 to 15 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Carpentaria Exploration Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

PKF

Albert Loots
Partner

Dated at Brisbane this 26th day of July 2012


